

**BYLAWS**  
**OF**  
**TRILLIUM AT FLOWERS PLANTATION HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.**

ARTICLE I

NAME AND LOCATION

The name of the corporation is TRILLIUM AT FLOWERS PLANTATION HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC. The principal office of the corporation shall be located at the place designated by the Articles of Incorporation of the Association, as amended from time to time, but meetings of Members and Directors may be held at such place as may be designated by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE II

DEFINITIONS

Section 1. "Association" shall mean and refer to TRILLIUM AT FLOWERS PLANTATION HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., its successors and assigns.

Section 2. "Declaration" shall mean and refer to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Trillium at Flowers Plantation to be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnston County, North Carolina.

Section 3. "Declarant" shall mean and refer to Rebecca D. Flowers, and her successors and assigns.

Section 4. "Property" shall mean all the land described on Exhibit A attached hereto, together with any land annexed by Declarant under the terms of the Declaration.

Section 5. All other definitions in the Declaration shall apply to these Bylaws.

ARTICLE III

MEMBERSHIP AND PROPERTY RIGHTS

Section 1. Membership. Membership is governed by the Articles of Incorporation for the Association and the Declaration.

Section 2. Rights of Members. Each Member shall enjoy the rights set forth in the Declaration, including the use and enjoyment of the Common Areas as more particularly described in, and governed by, the Declaration.

Section 3. Voting Rights. Voting rights are governed by the Declaration.

#### ARTICLE IV

##### MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Section 1. Annual Meetings. The first annual meeting of the Members shall be held within one year from the later of the date of incorporation of the Association or the date of conveyance of the first Lot. Each subsequent regular annual meeting of the Members shall be held on a date and time designated by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Members may be called at any time by the President or by the Board of Directors, or upon written request of the Members who are entitled to vote ten percent (10%) of all the votes of the membership.

Section 3. Notice of Meetings. Notice of meetings shall be provided as set forth in the Declaration. Waiver by a Member in writing of the notice required, signed by him or her before or after such meeting, shall be equivalent to the giving of such notice.

Section 4. Quorum. A quorum is present throughout any meeting of the Association if Members entitled to cast 10% of the voting interests in the Association are present in person or by proxy at the beginning of the meeting.

Section 5. Proxies. At all meetings of Members, each Member may vote in person or by proxy. All proxies shall be in writing and filed with the Secretary. Every proxy shall be revocable and shall automatically cease upon conveyance by the member of his or her Lot.

#### ARTICLE V

##### BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. General Powers. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Number, Term and Qualification.

(a) The Initial Board of Directors shall be as set forth in Article VI of the Articles of Incorporation.

(b) During the Declarant Control Period, the Declarant shall determine the number of Directors. Each Director shall hold office until his or her death, resignation, retirement, removal or completion of his or her term. Each Director shall be elected for a three (3) year term, provided that Directors elected in the middle of the Association's fiscal year shall serve for the remainder of that year, plus two (2) additional years. Any Director who has served

a term may be re-elected. Directors need not be residents of the State of North Carolina. Directors need not be Members.

(c) After the Declarant Control Period, the number of Directors of the Board of Directors shall be set by the Members from time to time and shall be at least three (3). Each Director shall hold office until his or her death, resignation, retirement, removal or completion of his or her term. Each Director shall be elected for a three (3) year term, provided that Directors elected in the middle of the Association's fiscal year shall serve for the remainder of that year, plus two (2) additional years. Any Director who has served a term may be re-elected. Directors need not be residents of the State of North Carolina. Directors need not be Members, except as required by Section 47F-3-103(e) of the N.C. Planned Community Act.

Section 3. Removal.

(a) During the Declarant Control Period, any Director selected by Declarant may be removed from the Board by Declarant, with or without cause. In the event of removal of a Director, such Director's successor shall be selected by Declarant and shall serve for the unexpired term of the removed Director.

(b) After the Declarant Control Period, any Director may be removed from the Board, with or without cause, by a majority vote of the Members of the Association at any meeting at which a quorum is present. In the event of removal of a Director, such Director's successor shall be selected by a majority vote of the remaining members of the Board, and shall serve for the unexpired term of the removed Director.

Section 4. Vacancies.

(a) During the Declarant Control Period, a vacancy on the Board resulting from resignation, death, or otherwise (except vacancies caused by removal, which is governed by Section 3 above), shall be filled by Declarant.

(b) After the Declarant Control Period, vacancies on the Board resulting from resignation, death, or otherwise (except vacancies caused by removal, which is governed by Section 3 above) shall be filled by a majority vote of the remaining members of the Board at its first regular meeting following the creation of such vacancy, or at a special meeting called for that purpose.

Section 5. Compensation. No Director shall receive compensation for any service he or she may render to the Association as a Director. However, any Director may be reimbursed for actual expenses incurred in the performance of his or her duties.

Section 6. Action Taken Without a Meeting. The Directors shall have the right to take any action in the absence of a meeting which they could take at a meeting by obtaining the written approval of all the Directors. Any action so approved shall have the same effect as though taken at the meeting of the Directors.

## ARTICLE VI

### NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

#### Section 1. Nomination.

(a) During the Declarant Control Period, the Declarant shall select and appoint the Directors.

(b) After the Declarant Control Period, nominations for election as a Director of the Board of Directors shall be made by a "Nominating Committee." Nominations for election as a Director may also be made from the floor at the annual meeting. The Nominating Committee shall consist of the President and such other committee members as designated by the President. If the office of President is vacant, the Vice President shall name the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee shall be appointed prior to each annual meeting until the close of the annual meeting. The Nominating Committee shall make as many nominations for election to the Board of Directors as it shall in its discretion determine, but not less than the number of vacancies that are to be filled.

Section 2. Election. After the Declarant Control Period, election as a Director may be conducted by voice vote or by secret written ballot, at the discretion of President (or Vice President if the office of President is vacant). At such election, the Members or their proxies may cast, in respect to each vacancy, as many votes as they are entitled to exercise under the provisions of the Declaration. The persons receiving the largest number of votes shall be elected. Cumulative voting is not permitted.

## ARTICLE VII

### MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held quarterly or at such other periodic intervals as may be established by the Board of Directors from time to time, at such place and hour as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board.

Section 2. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held when called by the President of the Association, or by any two Directors, after not less than three (3) days notice to each Director.

#### Section 3. Quorum.

(a) A majority of the number of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

(b) Every act or decision done or made at a duly called meeting at which the designated quorum is present shall be regarded as the act of the Board.

Section 4. Action Without Meeting. Action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken by all members of the Board. The action must be evidenced by one or more written consents signed by each Director before or after such action, describing the action taken, and included in the minutes or filed with the corporate records.

## ARTICLE VIII

### POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Powers. The Board of Directors shall have power, on behalf of the Association, to:

(a) exercise all powers enumerated in Section 47F-3-102 of the Planned Community Act, including:

- (1) adopt these Bylaws, amend these Bylaws (pursuant to Article XIII below) and adopt rules and regulations;
- (2) adopt and amend budgets for revenues, expenditures, and reserves and collect assessments for common expenses from Lot Owners;
- (3) hire and discharge managing agents and other employees, agents, and independent contractors;
- (4) institute, defend, or intervene in litigation or administrative proceedings on matters affecting the Association;
- (5) make contracts and incur liabilities;
- (6) regulate the use, maintenance, repair, replacement, and modification of Common Areas;
- (7) cause additional improvements to be made as a part of the Common Areas;
- (8) acquire, hold, encumber, and convey in the Association's name any right, title, or interest to real or personal property, provided that Common Areas and may be conveyed or subjected to a security interest only pursuant to Section 47F-3-112 of the Planned Community Act;
- (9) grant easements, leases, licenses, and concessions through or over the Common Areas;

(10) impose and receive any payments, fees or charges for the use, rental, or operation of the Common Areas and for services provided to Lot Owners;

(11) impose reasonable charges for late payment of assessments, not to exceed the greater of twenty dollars (\$20.00) per month or ten percent (10%) of any assessment installment unpaid and, after notice and an opportunity to be heard, suspend privileges or services provided by the Association (except rights of access to Lots) during any period that assessments or other amounts due and owing to the Association remain unpaid for a period of 30 days or longer; provided, however, that the procedure for fines and/or suspension of privileges or services comply with Section 47F-3-107.1 of the Planned Community Act;

(12) after notice and an opportunity to be heard, impose reasonable fines or suspend privileges or services provided by the Association (except rights of access to Lots) for reasonable periods for violations of the Declaration, Bylaws, and rules and regulations of the Association; provided, however, that the procedure for fines and/or suspension of privileges or services comply with Section 47F-3-107.1 of the Planned Community Act;

(13) impose reasonable charges in connection with the preparation and recordation of documents, including, without limitation, amendments to the Declaration or statements of unpaid assessments;

(14) provide for the indemnification of and maintain liability insurance for its officers, Directors, employees, and agents;

(15) assign its right to future income, including the right to receive common expense assessments;

(16) exercise all other powers that may be exercised in this State by legal entities of the same type as the Association; and

(17) exercise any other powers necessary and proper for the governance and operation of the Association.

(b) exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to this Association and not reserved to the membership by the Planned Community Act, the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the Declaration.

(c) impose attorney fees against a Lot Owner in connection with collection of past due amounts owed to the Association, or attorney fees incurred in connection with litigation to enforce the Declaration, these Bylaws or the Association's rules and regulations, subject to Section 47F-3-116 and Section 47F-3-120 of the Planned Community Act.

Section 2. Duties. It shall be the duty of the Board of Directors to:

- (a) cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and corporate affairs;
- (b) supervise all officers, agents and employees of this Association, and to see that their duties are properly performed;
- (c) issue, or to cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand by any person, a certificate setting forth whether or not any assessment has been paid. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board for the issuance of these certificates. If a certificate states an assessment has been paid, such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of such payment;
- (d) procure and maintain, to the extent available at reasonable cost, adequate liability insurance covering the Association, its Directors, officers, agents and employees and adequate hazard insurance on the Common Areas owned by the Association; and
- (e) cause the Common Areas to be maintained.

## ARTICLE IX

### OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES

Section 1. Enumeration of Offices. The officers of the Association shall be President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may from time to time by resolution create.

Section 2. Election of Officers. The election of officers shall take place at the first meeting of the Board of Directors following each annual meeting of the Members.

Section 3. Term. Each officer of the Association shall be elected annually by the Board and each shall hold office until a successor is chosen, unless he or she shall sooner resign, die or shall be removed or otherwise disqualified or unable to serve.

Section 4. Special Appointment. The Board of Directors may elect such other officers as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may, from time to time, determine.

Section 5. Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office with or without cause by the Board. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board or an officer. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 6. Vacancies. A vacancy in any office may be filled by appointment by the Board. The officer appointed to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer he or she replaces.

Section 7. Duties. The duties of the officers are as follows:

PRESIDENT

(a) The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors; shall see that orders and resolutions of the Board are carried out; shall sign all leases, mortgages, deeds and other written instruments; shall prepare and execute amendments to the Declaration on behalf of the Association; and shall be authorized to sign checks and promissory notes.

VICE PRESIDENT

(b) The Vice President shall act in the place and stead of the President in the event of his or her absence, death, disability or refusal to act; and shall exercise and discharge such other duties as may be required by the Board.

SECRETARY

(c) The Secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all meetings and proceedings of the Board and of the Members; shall keep the corporate seal of the Association and affix it on all papers requiring said seal; shall serve notice of meeting of the Board and of the Association, together with their addresses; shall certify and record amendments to the Declaration on behalf of the Association; and shall perform such other duties as required by the Board.

TREASURER

(d) The Treasurer shall receive and deposit in appropriate bank accounts all monies of the Association and shall disburse such funds as directed by resolution of the Board of Directors; shall authorize payment of all checks and shall be authorized to sign checks; shall keep proper books of account; and shall prepare an annual budget and statement of income and expenditures to be presented to the Membership at its regular annual meeting, and to deliver a copy of each to the Members.

ARTICLE X

COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors shall appoint such committees as deemed appropriate in carrying out the purposes of the Association.



ARTICLE XI

RECORDS AND BOOKS

The records, books, and papers of the Association shall at all times during reasonable business hours be subject to inspection by any Member. The Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws of the Association shall be available for inspection by any Member at the principal office of the Association.

ARTICLE XII

AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATION

Section 1. These Bylaws may be amended, at a regular or special meeting of the Members, by a vote of a majority of a quorum of Members present in person or by proxy.

Section 2. In the case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation and the Bylaws, the Articles shall control; and in the case of any conflict between the Declaration and these Bylaws, the Declaration shall control.

ARTICLE XIII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1. The fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the 1st day of January and end on the 31st day of December of every year, except that the first fiscal year shall begin on the date of incorporation.

Section 2. Pursuant to Section 47F-3-103(f) of the Planned Community Act, the Board of Directors shall publish the names and addresses of all Directors and officers of the Association within thirty (30) days of their election.

[signature page follows]

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify:

THAT I am the duly elected and acting Secretary of TRILLIUM AT FLOWERS PLANTATION HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., a North Carolina nonprofit corporation; and

THAT the foregoing Bylaws constitute the Bylaws of said Association, as duly adopted by its Board of Directors.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed the seal of said Association, effective this the 23<sup>rd</sup> day of August, 2013.

  
SECRETARY

[Corporate Seal]

Exhibit A

Being all of Lots 1 through 34, inclusive as shown on plat entitled "Trillium, Phase One, Flowers Plantation" Wilders Township, Johnston County, North Carolina, dated August 1, 2013, prepared by True Line Surveying, P.C., recorded August 2, 2013 in Plat Book 78, Pages 467-468, as superseded by Plat recorded on August 9, 2013 in Plat Book 78, Pages 481-482, Johnston County Registry.